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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA,

CHARLOTTE DIVISION D oy
VICTOR J. CAPONEY )
)
) FIRST AMENDED
} VERIFIED COMPLAINT
Plaintiff, ) (Jury Trial Requested)
)
VS, ) Civil Action No. 3:03CV392-H
)
PORTA-JON OF THE PIEDMONT, INC. )
& NED P. CARPENTER )
)
Defendants. )
)

Plaintiff, complaining of Defendants, would respectfully show unto this Court that:

JURISDICTION
1. Plaintiff, Victor J. Caponey (“Caponey”), is an individual residing in Greenville,
South Carolina.
2. Defendant, Porta-jon of the Piedmont, Inc. (“Porta-jon”), is a corporation

organized and existing under the laws of the State of North Carolina, having a principal place of
business at 712 W. Airline Ave., Gastonia, NC 28052.

3. Defendant, Ned P. Carpenter (“Carpenter”), is an individual residing in North
Carolina.

4, This Court has jurisdiction of the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28
U.S.C. §1338(a) in that this action states claims for patent infringement whereby venue is
appropriate in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391(b) and 28 U.S.C. §1400(b).

5. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Porta-jon and Ned Carpenter.
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GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

6. Caponey is in the business of refuse removal.

7. A unique Stackable Container for refuse was invented by Caponey, and he has
sought protection for the novel design of the Stackable Container by filing for and receiving
Letters Patent for the same in U.S. Patent No. Des. 475,854, herein referred to as the “854
Patent”. The 854 Patent has an issue date of June 17, 2003, and a copy of the Letters Patent for
the 854 Patent is attached to and made a part of this complaint as Exhibit A.

8. A novel method for refuse removal from a collection site was invented by
Caponey, and he has sought protection for the method by filing for and receiving Letters Patent
for the same in U.S. Patent No. 6,616,400, herein referred to as the 400 Patent”. The 400 Patent
has an issue date of September 9, 2003, and a copy of the Letters Patent for the 400 Patent is
attached to and made a part of this complaint as Exhibit B.

9. Upon information and belief, Carpenter is the President of Porta-jon.

10.  Upon information and belief, defendants are in the business of refuse removal
services.

11.  Onorabout July I, 2003, containers identical to or substantially similar to the
design of the 854 Patent were used by defendants. Upon information and belief, on a website
owned and/or operated by Porta-jon, such containers, labeled as the “Mini-Bins”, were offered
for use and sale or sold.

12, On or about July 1, 2003, Porta-jon provided refuse removal services to
construction sites in and around the Charlotte area using the Mini-Bin containers in conjunction
with rotating fork lift trucks. These services included transporting Mini-Bin containers to such

construction sites, unloading and dispensing the Mini-Bin containers around the construction
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sites using the rotating fork lift trucks, collecting refuse in the Mini-Bin containers, and
retrieving the Mini-Bin containers and unloading the contents of the Mini-Bin containers using
the rotating fork lift trucks.

13. Onorabout July 2, 2003, defendants were contacted by Caponey regarding Porta-
jon’s Mini-Bin containers and notified that he owned the 854 Patent relating to an ornamental
design for a Stackable Container. At this time, on information and belief, defendants were
provided a copy of the 854 Patent. Caponey further indicated to defendants that he had a good
faith belief that Porta-jon’s Mini-Bin containers were within the scope of the 854 Patent.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Patent Infringement against Porta-jon - U.S. Patent No. D475,854)

14. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 13 of this Complaint are realleged and
incorporated by reference herein.

15, Caponey is the inventor and owner of the 854 Patent and utilizes Stackable
Containers within the design of the 854 Patent.

16.  The 854 Patent was duly and legally issued and is stili in full force and effect.

17. Numerous business relationships have been developed by Caponey with a number
of customers based on licensing of the 854 Patent. Additionally, Caponey uses and continues to
use the Stackable Container design in his refuse removal business and plans to continue
developing business relationships by licensing the 854 Patent to potential customers.

18, Upon information and belief, the overall design of Porta-jon’s Mini-Bin
containers are identical or, in the alternative, substantially similar to the omamental features of
the 854 Patent as determined by an ordinary observer. This substantial similarity is clear upon a

first-time comparison by an ordinary observer of the overall design of Porta-jon’s Mini-Bin
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container with the ornamental features of the 854 Patent.

19. Upon information and belicf, Porta-jon continues to use containers incorporating
the ornamental design of the 854 Patent. By using, manufacturing, offering for sale, and/or
selling containers incorporating the ornamental design of the 854 Patent, Porta-jon has infringed
and is now infringing the 854 Patent within this district and will continue to do so to Caponey’s
grave and irreparable damage uniess Porta-jon is enjoined by this Court. Porta-jon’s wrongful
activities, as described above, constitute violations of 35 U.S.C. §271.

20.  Porta-jon has been given actual notice of the 854 Patent and of its infringement
thereof prior to commencement of this action and, upon information and belief, has made
unlawful gains and profits from that infringement.

21. Porta-jon’s activitics have caused and will continue to cause irreparable harm to
Caponey, for which he has no adequate remedy at law, in that: (i) if Porta-jon’s wrongful
conduct is permitted to continue, the ability to license the 854 Patent to potential licensees and
develop business relationships with the same is severely limited and constitutes an interference
with Caponey’s licensee relationships and customer relationships; (ii) if Porta-jon’s wrongful
conduct is permitted to continue, the value in the 854 Patent is substantially diminished; (iii)
Porta-jon’s wrongful conduct, and the damages resulting to Caponey, are continuing; and (iv) if
Porta-jon’s wrongful conduct is permitted to continue, his ability to license the 854 Patent for a
reasonable royalty and develop future business relationships is substantially diminished.

22, Upon information and belief, alternative containers to containers incorporating the
design of the 854 Patent are available to Porta-jon to make, use, offer to sell, or sell, If Porta-
jon’s wrongful conduct is permitted to continue, Caponey’s business, including the ability to

maintain existing licensee relationships and develop future business relationships based on the
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Stackable Container, will be minimized.

23.  Porta-jon’s infringement has been deliberate, willful, intentional and with full
knowledge of the existence of the 854 Patent.

24.  Caponey is entitled to a preliminary injunction enjoining Porta-jon from making,
using, offering for sale and selling Mini Bin containers, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §283.

25, Caponey is entitled to a permanent injunction, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §283,
enjoining Porta-jon from making, using, offering for sale, and selling containers incorporating
the ornamental design of the 854 Patent.

26.  Asadirect and proximale result of Porta-jon’s infringement, as alleged above,
Caponey has suffered and continues to suffer substantial monetary damage, including without
limitation loss of sales, profits and damages, in an amount not yet determined. Caponey is
entitled to damages, including interest and costs, adequate to compensate for Porta-jon’s
misconduct, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §284.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Patent Infringement against Porta-jon - U.S. Patent No. 6,616,400)

27.  The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 26 of this Complaint are realleged and
incorporated by reference herein.

28, The 400 Patent discloses and claims a method for refuse removal from a
collection site.

29.  Caponey holds all right, title, and interest in the 400 Patent.

30.  The 400 Patent was duly and legally issued and is still in full force and effect.

31. Arefuse removal or recycling service business has been developed by Caponey

that is based on a refuse removal process covered by the 400 Patent.
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32. Porta-jon offers and provides refuse removal services using the Mini-Bin
containers and rotating fork lift trucks as a part of Porta-jon’s business.

33, Upon information and belief, Porta-jon removes refuse from a construction site by
transporting containers in an inverted stack to the construction site, lifting a container from the
stack with a rotating fork lift truck, rotating the container with the rotating fork lift truck,
lowering the container to the ground, collecting refuse in the container, lifting the container with
the rotating fork lift truck, and inverting the container such that refuse enters a collection bin of a
collection truck.

34, Porta-jon’s activities have caused and will continue to cause irreparable harm to
Caponey, for which he has no adequate remedy at law, in that; (i) if Porta-jon’s wrongful
conduct 1s permitted to continue, the ability to license the 400 Patent to potential licensees and
develop business relationships with the same is severely limited and constitutes an interference
with his licensee relationships and customer relationships; (if} if Porta-jon’s wrongful conduct is
permitted to continue, the value in the 400 Patent is substantially diminished; (iii) Porta-jon’s
wrongful conduct, and the damages resulting to Caponey, are continuing; and (iv) if Porta-jon’s
wrongful conduct is permitted to continue, his ability to license the 400 Patent for a reasonable
royalty and develop future business relationships is substantially diminished.

35. Upon information and belief, alternative methods of refuse removal are available
to Porta-jon to use. If Porta-jon’s wrongful conduct is permitted to continue, Caponey’s
business, including the ability to maintain existing licensee relationships and develop future
business relationships based on the refuse removal process, will be minimized.

36.  Porta-jon’s infringement has been deliberate, willful, intentional and with full

knowledge of the existence of the 400 Patent.
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37. By offering for sale, selling, and providing refuse removal services using the
Mini-Bin containers and rotating fork lift trucks to remove refuse in the aforementioned manner,
Porta-jon has infringed and is now infringing claims 1-8 of the 400 Patent within this district
pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §271(a).

38.  Upon information and belief, Porta-jon has made unlawful gains and profits from
that infringement.

39.  Caponey is entitled to a preliminary injunction enjoining Porta-jon from using,
offering for sale and selling refuse removal services using the Mini-Bin containers and rotating
fork lift trucks in the aforementioned manner, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §283.

40.  Caponey is entitled to a permanent injunction, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §283,
enjoining Porta-jon from using, offering for sale, and selling refuse removal services using the
Mini-Bin containers and rotating fork lift trucks in the aforementioned manner.

41. Asadirect and proximate result of Porta-jon’s infringement, as alleged above,
Caponey has suffered and continues to suffer substantial monetary damage, including without
limitation loss of sales, profits and damages, in an amount not vet determined. Caponey is
entitled to damages, including interest and costs, adequate to compensate for Porta-jon’s
misconduct, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §284.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Patent Infringement against Ned Carpenter - U.S. Patent No. D475,854)

42.  The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 41 of this Complaint are realleged and
incorporated by reference herein.

43.  Upon information and belief, Carpenter directed Porta-jon to make, use, offer for

sale, and/or sell the Mini-Bin containers and/or containers incorporating the ornamental design
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of the 854 Patent.

44.  Upon information and belief, Carpenter has been given actual notice of the 854
Patent and of its infringement thereof prior to commencement of this action.

45.  Upon information and belief, Porta-jon continues to use the Mini-Bin containers
and/or containers incorporating the ornamental design of the 854 Patent and has infringed and is
now infringing the 854 Patent within this district and will continue to do so to Caponey’s grave
and irreparable damage. Carpenter’s active and knowing inducement of Porta-jon’s wrongful
activities, as described above, constitutes violations of 35 U.S.C. §271(b).

46.  Carpenter’s infringement has been deliberate, willful, intentional and with full
knowledge of the existence of the 854 Patent.

47.  Asadirect and proximate result of Carpenter’s infringement, as alleged above,
Caponey has suffered and continues to suffer substantial monetary damage, including without
limitation loss of sales, profits and damages, in an amount not yet determined. Caponey is
entitled to damages, including interest and costs, adequate to compensate for Carpenter’s
misconduct, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §284,

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Patent Infringement against Ned Carpenter - U.S. Patent No. 6,616,400)

48.  'The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 47 of this Complaint are realleged and
incorporated by reference herein.

49.  Upon information and belief, Carpenter directed Porta-jon to use, offer for sale,
and/or sell refuse removal services using the Mini-Bin containers and rotating fork lift trucks
whereby refuse is removed from a construction site by transporting containers in an inverted

stack to the construction site, lifting a container from the stack with a rotating fork lift truck,
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rotating the container with the rotating fork lift truck, lowering the container to the ground,
collecting refuse in the container, lifting the container with the rotating fork lift truck, and
inverting the container such that refuse enters a collection bin of a collection truck..

50.  Upon information and belief, Porta-jon continues to use the Mini-Bin containers
and rotating fork lift trucks in the aforementioned manner and has infringed and is now
infringing the 400 Patent within this district and will continue to do so to Caponey’s grave and
irreparable damage. Carpenter’s active and knowing inducement of Porta-jon’s wrongful
activities, as described above, constitutes violations of 35 U.S.C. §271(b).

SI. Asadirect and proximate result of Carpenter’s infringement, as alleged above,
Caponey has suffered and continues to suffer substantial monetary damage, including without
limitation loss of sales, profits and damages, in an amount not yet determined. Caponey is
entitled to damages, including interest and costs, adequate to compensate for Carpenter’s
misconduct, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §284.

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Accounting)

52.  The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 51 of this Complaint are realleged and
incorporated by reference herein.

53. Pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §289, Caponey is entitled to recover total profits of the

defendants’ from any article of manufacture to which the patented design, or any colorable

imitation thereof, of the 854 Patent is applied for the purpose of sale or sells or exposes for sale.

54.  Pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §284, Caponey is entitled to recover damages, but not less
than a reasonable royalty for the use made of the refuse removal method of the 400 Patent,

including interest and costs, adequate to compensate for defendants’ misconduct.
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55, The amount of money due from defendants to Caponey is unknown and cannot be
ascertained without an accounting of the amount of Mini-Bin containers and substantially similar
containers that were used or sold by Porta-jon and the extent of use by Porta-jon of the
aforementioned refuse removal method.

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Exceptional Case)

56.  The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 55 of this Complaint are realleged and
incorporated by reference herein,

57.  Defendants have committed acts, and will continue to commit acts, that make this
case exceptional under 35 U.S.C. §285.

WHEREFORE, Caponey prays:

(1) That the Court treat this Verified Complaint as an affidavit;

(2)  That the Court issue an Order requiring defendants to appear and show cause why
Caponey’s Motion for Preliminary Injunction should not be granted,

(3)  That following a hearing the Court issue a Preliminary Injunction, pending trial of
this action on the merits, enjoining, restraining and prohibiting Porta-jon, its officers, directors,
employees and other agents or representatives, and all others acting in concert with them or at
their direction from:

1) making, using, offering for sale, or selling Mini-Bin containers or
substantially similar containers;
i) engaging in any other activity constituting an infringement of Caponey’s

854 Patent;

i) providing refuse removal services using the aforementioned refuse

10
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removal method;

iv)  engaging in any other activity constituting an infringement of Caponey’s

400 Patent;

V) assisting, aiding, or abetting any other person or business entity in
engaging in or performing any of the activities prohibited in subparagraphs (i} through

(1v) above;

(4)  That the Court enters an order requiring Porta-jon to provide Caponey with a full
and complete accounting of all amounts due and owing to him as Porta-jon’s profits from its
infringing sales of the Mini-Bin containers and substantially similar containers;

(5)  That the Court enters judgment declaring that defendants have infringed
Caponey’s rights in U.S. Patent Nos. D475,854 and 6,616,400 under 35 U.S.C. §271;

(6)  That the Court enters judgment awarding to Caponey general, special, actual, and
statutory damages from defendants, as follows: Caponey’s damages adequate to compensate
plaintiff for defendants” infringement, in an amount not less than a reasonable royalty, pursuant
to 35 U.S.C. §284 and 35 U.S.C. §289;

(7)  That the Court enters judgment awarding to Caponey increased damages in an
amount of not less than three times the amount of damages found by the jury or assessed by this
Court, for defendants’ willful infringement of the 854 Patent, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §284;

(8)  That Caponey recovers from defendants the costs of this action pursuant to 35
U.S.C. §284 and Caponey’s reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred in prosecuting this action,
pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §285;

(9)  That, following the conclusion of the trial of this action on the merits, the Court

issues a Permanent Injunction, enjoining, restraining, and prohibiting Porta-jon, its officers,

11

Case 3:03-cv-00392-DCK Document 10 Filed 10/03/03 Page 11 of 30



directors, employees, and other agents or representatives, and all others acting in concert with
them or at their direction, from:
1) making, using, offering for sale, and selling Mini Bin containers and
substantially similar containers;
11) engaging in any other activity constituting an infringement of Caponey’s
854 Patent;
i) providing refuse removal services using the aforementioned refuse
removal method;
1v) engaging in any other activity constituting an infringement of Caponey’s
400 Patent; and
V) assisting, aiding, or abetting any other person or business entity in
engaging in or performing any of the activities prohibited in subparagraphs (i) through
{iv) above;
(10)  That Caponey have a trial by jury of all issues so triable of right; and
(11)  That the Court award such other and further relief as the Court deems appropriate.

Respectfully submitted,

e {'{,/i’f"; (( ( L/ - :
%w Y. Pang
Michael S. Pitts, N.C. Fed. Id. 24,979 )
John B. Hardaway, III, S.C. Fed, Id. 1710
NEXSEN PRUET JACORS & POLLARD, LLC
201 W. McBee Avenue, Fourth Floor
Post Office Drawer 10648
Greenville, South Carolina 29603
(864) 370-2211

Greenville, South Carolina Attorneys for Plaintiff
Date: October 2, 2003
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VERIFICATION

Victor J. Caponey, personally appearing before me being duly sworn, deposes and says
that he is the plaintiff in the foregoing action; that he has read the foregoing First Amended
Verified Complaint and knows the contents thereof; and that the same are true of his own
knowledge, except as to those matters therein stated to be on information and belief, and as to

those matters, he believes them to be true.

Sworn to and subscribed
before me this day
2003.

of
o T

NotarXPublic for Sotth 'Caroliga

My commission expires: = -~ VM-I
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1

METHOD FOR HIGHLY EFFICIENT
REFLSE REMOVAL FROM A
CONSTRUCTION SITE

BACKGROUND OF THE INVENTION

The present invenuun relales to 4 methed for efliciently
removing refuse rom 1 construction site, or other site of
refuse generabon. and 10 4 system for acoomplishing the
method

Itis well known that refuse generation at a constructon
site 1y @ burden The expense associaled with collecting the
refuse al the comstruction site and transporting the refuse o
3 dumping sle must be ancluded 1n the towd cowt of con-
strucuon. There 15 an ongoing effort o decrease the cost
associaled with removing refuse from a construction site.

The reluse is also unsighly during construction. The
unsightly appearance 1s a particular problem in tract devel-
opments where muitiple homes. or units, are being con-
structed duning a short ime frame. I1 is most common lor a
developer of 3 tract to desire initiating sales agrecments
prior to completon of the project and to allow unils 10 be
occupted prior 1o the compledion of all of the housing units
1n the development. The unsightly accumulation of refuse 15
a detniment 1o the carly sales, and carly occupation, of wact
homes.

There are presently two approaches to refuse collection
and removal. One approach is the use of large containers,
such as about 30 feet long, wherein the refuse is collected for
removal. This approach has the advantage of being abic 1o
accumulale large amounts of refuse prier 10 being trans-
poned (or dumping The disadvantage of this method is the
inability to locate the large containers in syitable localions.
Tract developments, for example, may involve multple
homes. or units. being constructed al any given ume. With
large containers the Jocaion is always inconvenient for at
least some of the homes being constucted. This requires the
refuse to be coliccted and ransported 1o the large container
thereby creating a manpower burden. The transporting of
refuse also greatly increases the likelihood of the refuse
hecoming scattered due to wind, or for other reasons. This
ncreases the unsighly accumulatien of refuse throughout
the development.

The large containers are also a burden due (o the weight
The large containers typically scar the roadbed upon which
they are placed. This creates an additional repair item for the
developer thereby increasing the total cost of Lhe develop-
ment.

In use, the large containers are delivered individually w0 a
construclion site. When full the large container is either
hauled 10 a dumpsite by truck, leaving the construction site
without a refuse container for a period of Lime, or an emply
centainer is delivered and the {ull container removed. One
disadvantage to the large conlainers is the inability to
transport multiple containers. Each ume the container is 1o
be relocaled a dedicated vehicie is required. It is well know
that large vehicles, such as those used for transporting large
containers, utilize large volumes of fuel. It is therefore
desirable 10 limit the distance and number of trips for these
large vehicles.

An altermate approach 1o the large containers is the use of
a muluplicity of small containers. These containers are
frequently referred 1o as dumpsters. The small containers
have the advantage of being more casily located in conve-
nient locations. The use of multiple locations reduces the
burden associaled with transporting refuse to a centrally
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towated large cortuner The small containers also are less
harmlul W ihe rowdbed upon which they rest even though
warmag sull oceurs Smali containers have disadvantages
that have not ye! been resolved

Small conLuners contun less refuse than a large container
and therefore must de dumped more frequenty. It would be
ubvious that a given construction site would require muluple
smali containers (o contain the refuse of one large container.
Therefore, the burden of dumping the containers is magni-
ficd The ume required to dump cach smal) contuner is not
substantially less than the tme required 10 deliver an empty
targe container and remove a full large container. In practice,
small containers are dumped by a cedicated vehicle capable
of lifting the smuil conluner upward and in an arc owards
the rear of the vehicle wherein the refuse is dumped in a
covered tuck bed. When the truck bed is full the vehicle
then dnves to a dumpsite. The dedicated vehicle is typically
not suitable for other uses in a construction site. The
requirement of a dedicated vehicle is an obvious burden o
a developer. Therefore, the benefit of having conveniently
locaied containers is obliterated by the cost associated with
dumping the muluiple small conLainers.

Yet another burden is encountered when the small con-
Luners are 1o be relocated. Relocation occurs al the start and
compleuon of a development project but also during the
pruject as housing units are started and completed in an
ongoing fashion. The size of the small containers stll
requires a dedicated vehicle for transport. In some cases, a
truck and trailer may be able to trarsport two or three small
containers but this is suill an unnecessary burden,

There has heen a long felt desire for a method. and
sysiem, of removing refuse (rom a construction site which is
efficient, with respect 10 manpower and cost. and convenient
yet does not require dedicated vehicles. This desire has not
been met prior to the present invention. A novel and unique
approach to a long (et problem is described herein.

BRIEF SUMMARY OF THE INVENTION

Hence, it is object of the present invention w provide a
method for removing refuse from a construction site using
small localized containers while mitigating the burden asso-
cated with dumping many small containers.

It 15 another object of the present invention to provide a
method, and system, for removing refuse from a construc-
tion site. The method. and system. utlizes containers opti-
mised for increased productvily at the both construction site
and in the dumping operation.

These and other advantages, as would be realised to one
of ordinary skill in the art, arv provided in a method for
refuse removal from a coltection site. The method comprises
transporting multiple containers in an inveried stack 1o the
callection site. Engaging a first container of the multiple
containers with a rotating fork lift wruck. Lifiing the first
container from the inverted stack with the rotating fork 1ift
truck. Rotating the first container with the rotating fork lift
truck. Lowenng the first container 10 a coliection surface and
collecting the refuse in the first contaiper;

lifting said first comainer with said rotating fork lift truck
and inverting said first container such that said refuse enters
a collection bin of a coliection truck.

Yet another advantage is provided in a system for refuse
removal from a collection site. The sysiem comprises stack-
able containers wherein each stackable container of the
stackable containers comprises a base comprising multiple
sides. A Trapezoidal wall is provided for each side of the
basc wherein the trrapezoidal wall comprises a first face, a
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secone Tace paraded o and longer than the Ginv face 1nd (wo
stde faces wheresn the side Laces are not parallel The firsy
face s attached o one sde of the base Adjacent side faces
dreaiiached o ocach wiher o form g tuncated pyramidal
structure The contdiner has at least one fork chanaei anached
t the buse Arotaung tork il tuck, comprsing at least one
fork capable of being received by the fork channgl, 1y
provided for hifung and inverning the contuner for stacking

Yet anuther advantage 1s provided in an inverubly stack-
ahle refuse contaner The container compnises a base com-
prising muluple sides and a raperoidal wall for each side of
the base. Each trapeszondal wall comprises a first face, a
second face parallel 1o and longer than the first face and two
side faces The side fuces are not parallel. Each Arst lace &5
aiached o one side of the base. Adjacent side faces are
attached to each other to form a truncated pyramidal struc.
wre. A fork channel is attached to said base.

BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE DRAWINGS

F1G. 1 is a Nlow chan illustrating the steps of a preferred
cmbodiment of the present invention.

FIG 2 is a side view of a preferred container of the
present inventiorn.

FIG. 3 15 a from view of the preferred conainer of FIG.
2

FIG. 4 is a perspective view of the preferred container of
FGSs. 1-3.

F1G. §is a side view of an allemate preferred container of
the present invenlion.

FIG. 6 is a panial cutaway view illusirating a particular
feature of the present inventien.

FIG 7 15 a diagrammatic representalion of a particular
advantage of the present invention.

FIG B is 3 diagrammatic representation of a particular
advantage of the present invention.

FIG. % is a preferred embodiment illustrated i partial
YICW

DETAILED DESCRIPTION OF THE
INVENTION

The inventors of the present application have developed,
through diligent research. a method, and sysiem, for effi-
ciently removing refuse from a construction site.

The invention will be described with reference 1o the
figures forming a pant of the present application. In the
various figures similar elements are numbered accordingly.

FIG. 1is a representative flow diagram detailing the steps
of the present invention. The containers are delivered, pref-
crably in an invened siack, at 201. The advantages of
delivering the containers in an inverted stack will be more
apparent upon further detailed descriplions provided herein,
Upon delivery the uppermost conuainer is lifted from the
stack, rotated and placed in the desired location as indicated
al 202. This is repeated, at 207, unl the desired number of
containers is placed in the desired locations. Refuse is then
added 1o the container, at 203, at a frequency determined by
the location and work occuming at the location.

When il is desirable 10 empty the containers, the contain-
ers arc lifted by a rotaiing fork lift truck and inverted to
dump the contenis imo a conventional dump truck for
transport al 204. 1t would be apparent that rotating fork lift
trucks and dump trucks are commonly employed in con-
struction and therefore a dedicated vehicle is not necessary.
This represents an improvernent over the an in both cest and
convenience.
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Atter heing dumped the contamer 1 returmed o the
coliection sie o desigaated for Gansport at 206 Refuse can
Juan heoadded W the container ar 203 11 the uwe of the
certune: g the sile s Jiscontinsed the container s then
relocaied wherein g partealarly advamage of the present
msention s realized  Inoransporting, the comainer s
wvened and stacked on a wransport vehicle a1 205 A
puneular fealwre of the present invenbon is the ability to
stack tnvented contaners for transpont. The transport vehicle
can be a Mat bed truck or trailer both of which are commonly
employedin construcuon. This atality to invert and stack the
containens chimingles the need for a dedicated vehicle and
ercally mereases the number of conlainers lransported at a
given me The abiny (o utilize rotating fork lift trucks,
dump trucks and flai bed trucks or railers, greatly increases
the efficiency associated with refuse removal from a con-
struction site or other site of refuse generation or collection.

A preferred container is illustraed in FIGS. 2-4. FIG. 2
15 a side view of a preferred container. FIG. 3 is a front view
and F1G. 4 is a perspecuve view. The preferred container, 1,
s 2 truncaed pyramidal in shape and most preferably
truncaled rectangular pyramidal in shape. Most preferably
the contuncr is truncated square pyramidal in shape. The
term “tuncated pyramidal™ is defined, for the purposes of
the present invention. to indicalc a shape comprising a
closed base, 100 Each facc, 106, of the base. 100, is
attached to the shorter face, 107, of the parallel faces of a
trapezoidal wall, 101 The wall :s most preferably in the
shape of a trapezoid with two parallel faces and two non-
paralle] faces. More preferably the wall is in the shape of an
1sosceles trapezoid. The non-parallel faces, 108, of adjacent
trapczondal walls, 101, are attached to each other such that
the contumer forms an cutwardly diverging encasement with
an open cnd. 109. The open end. 109, is larger in size than
the hase, 100, and preferably substantially the same geo-
metric shape. The Urapezoidal walls may all be the same size
or they may be different. Most preferably. opposite trapezoi-
dal walls are substanually identical in shape and size.

Attached 1o the base, 100, preferably outside the
container, 1. 1s ar least one fork channel, 103, which receives
the forks of a rotating fork 1ift truck. It is most preferred that
the rotaung fork Lft truck have (wo forks and that the
container have two fork channels wherein each fork channel
receives onc fork. A single fork channel of sufBcient width
10 receive Iwo forks is suitable bul less desirable, The
uanslation of the container from side (o side during rotation
is minimized with two forks being received by twe fork
channels. A fork channel can be within the container as
illustrated at 110 of FIG. §. While an internal fork channel,
110, is within the scope of the present invention they are less
desired due 10 the increased cost of manufacture. Spacers,
104, arc preferably secured 10 the bottom of the container to
prohibit scaming of the surface upon which the container is
placed. The spacers also insure adequale scparation between
stacked containers as will be realized after further discus-
sion. The spacers are preferably manufactured from hard
vulcanised rubber or a cellulose product such as wood. A
spacer formed from vulcanised rubber is preferred.

Circumventing the open end, 109, is a preferred suppon
ring, 102. The support ring strengthens the walls al the
opening and prowides structural stability o the container.
The suppont ring, 102, also provides a rest when the con-
tainers are inveried and stacked.

The container size is chosen through diligent research to
optimise the amount of material which can be contained
therein while still offering the advantages of optimum trans-
port. The open end of the container is preferably the largest
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av realized fromothe dewnpuons herein A particularly
preferred vormiurer iy rectangular with swdes of at feast about
4 feet long to ao more than about 7 feet long A partcularly
prefermed contginer s 4 reclangular shape 4 the open cnd
with a widih of about 5 feet long and a lengih of about 6 fect
long. [ 1s must preferred that the (ront. defined as the side
whuch faves the rotaung fork 1ift truck 18 longer than the ade
The hase n preferably rectangular and i feast about 3 fect
long on cach side 1o no more than about 5 fect long on cach
stde. In a particularly preferred embodiment the base 15
about 4 fect wide by about 4 fect 8 inchies wide. The heighi
vl the contuner s chosen to opumise the malenal the
container can hold while sull allowing the ¢ontainer to be
small eneugh o be eaaly transponed. The height 1s prefer-
4bly at Jeast abuut 3 feet hugh 1o no mose than sbout 6 feet
high. A container which 1s about 4 fect in height is most
preferred.

A partial cutaway side-view of stacked containers is
provided in FIG. 6. [n F1G. 6, the outermost conlainer, 1, is
shown in pantial cutaway view. An inner container, 1°) is
shown as received by the outermost container. For the
purposcs of ranspor, or storage, an inner container, 1, is
inverted and placed on the open end upon a surface, 120. The
surface can be a transpont bed, such as a truck bed or trailer,
or a storage pad. An outermost container, E, is lified,
tnvenied, and towered onto the inner container, 1, with the
innes container being received by the oulermost container.
Additional containcrs can then be difted. invenied and placed
un the stack of containers to form a nested sack of con-
tners. This allows multiple conwiners 10 be shipped or
stored while utlizing a foot print of 4 single container. The
oulcr contaner, 1, preferably rests on the spacer, 104, of the
inner container. {n a particularly prefemed embodiment each
subscquent conLuner in a nested stack rest on the spacer of
the container recetved therein, [n a parucularly preferred
embodiment the support ring, 102, of cach subsequent
contanct forms a stop prohibiung the inner container from
cntenng (ar enough inlo the outer container 10 become
lodged. This eliminates problems associited with jamming
in the event of a catasurophic loss of a spacer or in the event
ol 4 spacer compressing under the weight of stacked con-
tainers. In a preferred embodiment, the support ring of each
subsequent container is in contact and the spacer is slightly
compressed between containers and biased towards expand-
ing to scparate the containers. This preferred embodiment
decreases the movernent during transport and decreases the
noise associaled with containers vibrating and contacting
cach other during transport.

The removal of the containers from a stack will be
described with reference to FIG. 7. In F1G. 7, a rotating fork
hft truck, 400, moves lowards a surface, 120, such as a truck
bed. The forks, 401, are aligned with and slidably received
by the fork channcls, 103, of the outermost container, 301,
of the stack of nested containers, 300. After the forks, 401,
are received by the fork channels, 103, the actuators of the
rotating fork lift treck are manipulaied to lift the uppermost
conLaner, 301, from the stack of nesied containers, 300. The
rotating fork N truck, 400, then reverses until the upper-
most container, J01. is clear of any obstacle. The forks, 401,
are then rotated by a rotation mechanism, 402, until the
container is inverted with the fork channcls down. The forks
are lowered untl the container is placed on Lhe ground, or
altemnate surface, 405, The rotating fork lift truck then
reverses thereby slidably disengaging the forks from the fork
channels.

Dumping of the containers will be described with refer-
ence to FIG. 8. [n FIG. 8 a container, 500, comprising refuse,
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301, hitted by ne forks of a rotaung fork it truck, 400.
The rotatag fork ik then moves (0 4 pusition wherein
the contaner. 506, 15 over the bed. 502, of a dump truck. The
rolating mechaninm, 402, 15 actuated o rotale the container
to an invenied positon wherein the refuse, §01, falls into the
bed, 502 After the refuse has been dumped the container is
inveried, the rotmable fork fift ruck reverses and the con-
tuner is lowered und placed in the desired position.

The walls, and base, arc preferably manufactured from
metdl The wally, and base may be subslantially planar or
they may be corrugated 1o increase the suength of the
continer Support rbs may also be incorporated 1n regions
of the container without deparing from the scope of the
present invenuon as would be readily apparent to one of
ordinary skitl in the an

Rotaung fork Lift trucks are available commercially. For
the purposes of the present invention the axis of rotation is
parallel w0 the forks and the rotaon involves minimal
translation, such as less than 6 inches, of the forks. A
particularly preferred embodiment utilizes a hydraulically
acivaled worm gear rotatably engaged with a round gear
secured to the forks. A preferred embodiment is illustrated in
partial view in I1G. 9. {n FIG. 9, the forks, 600, arc attached
to a fork plate, 601. A round gear, 602, is sccured o the fork
plate, 801, and engaged with a hydraulically activaled worm
gear mechanism, 603. The hydraulically activated worm
gear rolales clockwise, or counter clockwise depending on
the direction of hydraulic fluid flow in the hydrantic lines,
604 The hydraulically activated worm gear is secured to a
lift mechanism, 685, which is raised and lowered by Lft
arms. 606, of the lift ruck. The round gear, €02, and fork
plate. 601, are rotatably attached 1o the lift mechanism, 605.
It 18 preferred that the fork plate be anached to the lift
mechanism by an axle, 607, or suitable rotatable atachment,
The rotating fork mechanism can involve gears as described
i US Pat Nos. 3,876,100, 2.979.217 and 1,878,994, chain
and sprocket mechanisms as dewribed in U.S. Pal. Nos.
4,921,389 and 2,411,263, bearing hub assemblies as
described in ULS. Pat. No. 4,143,782; actuator piston mecha-
misms as described in U.S. Pat Nos. 5,730,576 and 4,095,
714 and combinauons thereof such as deseribed in U.S. Pat.
Nos. 4,241,355 and 2,822,949 all of which arc incorporated
herein by reference thereto. A skid steer loader 1s particularly
preferred as desenbed in U.S. Par No. 5,938.399 incorpo-
raled herein by reference therelo.

The invention has been described with particular empha-
sis on the preferred embodiments. It would be realized from
the leachings herein that other embadiments, allerations, and
configurations could be employed without departing from
the scope of the invention which is more specifically set
forth in the claims which are appended hereto.

What is claimed is:

1. A method for refuse removal from a collection site
comprising:

lransponing mulliple containers in an inveried stack o

said collection site;

engaging a first container of said multiple containers with

a rotating fork lift truck; .

lifling said first container from said inverted stack wilth

said rotating fork lift truck;

rotatng said first container with said rotating fork lift

truck;

lowering said firs! container to a collection surface;

collecting said refuse in said first container:

lifting said first conlainer with said rotating fork lift truck

and inverting said first container such that said refuse
enters a collection bin of a collection truck.
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2 The method for refuse remova) from a collection site of
clam 1 further compnsing

inverting said frst contawner and placing said first con-

tuncr on said invened stack

3 The method for refuse removal from a collection site of
clarm 1 wherein said first container comprises fork channels.

4. The method for refuse removal of claim 1 wherein said
first containcr comprises spacers.

5. The method for refuse removal of claim 1 wherein said
first container compnses a basc.

6. The method for refuse removal of claim § wherein said
first contaner comprises a trapezoidal wall for cach side of
said base wherein said wrapezoidal wall comprises a first

5

8

face, a sccond face parallel to and longer than said first face
and iwo side faces wherein said side faces are not paraliel
and wherein cach said first face is attached 10 one said side
of said base and adjacent said side faces are attached o each
other w form a runcated pyramidal structure.

7. The method for refuse removal of claim 1 whersin said
rotating fork lift truck comprises a hydraulically actuated
rotation mechanism.

8 The method for refuse removal of elzim 7 wherein said
hydraulically actuated rotation mechanism comprises a
worm gear in rotatable communication with a round gear.

L] ® L - -
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